#### <u>No. 45736-9-II</u>

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

## Allen Proshold,

Appellant.

Cowlitz County Superior Court Cause No. 13-1-01004-3

The Honorable Judge Marilyn K. Haan

# **Appellant's Opening Brief**

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

#### **BACKLUND & MISTRY**

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

## **

## **ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- 1. The trial court denied Mr. Proshold his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel.
- 2. The trial judge erred by failing to inquire into the extent of the conflict between Mr. Proshold and his court-appointed attorney.

**ISSUE 1:** An accused person who is indigent has a constitutional right to appointed counsel. When alerted to Mr. Proshold's dissatisfaction with his court-appointed attorney, the trial court failed to make any inquiry into the breakdown of the attorney-client relationship. Did the court's failure to inquire into the attorney-client relationship violate Mr. Proshold's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel?

- 3. Mr. Proshold's kidnapping conviction infringed his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 4. The court's instructions relieved the state of its burden to prove the essential elements of first-degree kidnapping.
- 5. The court's instructions failed to make the relevant legal standard manifestly clear to the average juror.
- 6. The courts instructions relieved the state of its burden to prove that Mr. Proshold "abducted" someone within the meaning of RCW 9A.40.010.
- 7. The trial court erred by giving Instruction No. 22.

**ISSUE 2:** A trial court's instructions must make the relevant legal standard manifestly clear to the average juror. Here, the trial court gave the jury an ambiguous definition of the word "abduct," allowing jurors to convict even absent proof that Mr. Proshold restrained Pruett. Did the instructions relieve the prosecution of its burden to prove the essential elements of first-degree kidnapping in violation of Mr. Proshold's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process?

- 8. The trial court erred by imposing attorney fees.
- 9. The trial court's imposition of attorney fees infringed Mr. Proshold's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel.

10. The court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 2.5 (Judgment and Sentence).

**ISSUE 3:** A trial court may only impose attorney fees after finding that the offender has the present or likely future ability to pay. Here, the court imposed \$825 in attorney fees but failed to conduct any inquiry into whether Mr. Proshold could afford to pay the amount. Did the trial court violate Mr. Proshold's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel?

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS**

Allen Proshold and Kristy Pruett dated on and off for three or four years. RP 98. In the late summer of 2013, they were together and living in Mr. Proshold's van. RP 99-100, 319, 348. Each used their controlled substance of choice: Pruett was addicted to heroin, having lost her job as a surgical nurse years before due to drug thefts and use, and Mr. Proshold used methamphetamine. RP 94-100, 121-123, 133, 322.

Mr. Proshold had all of his possessions in his van, and knew that he had a warrant. RP 133, 320. He knew of several locations in Cowlitz County where he could safely park his van, and moved among them. He wanted to avoid arrest, since it would mean that his van would be impounded and he would not be able to afford to pay the fee to get it back. RP 324-326.

On August 1, 2013, Mr. Proshold and Pruett drove to her heroin dealer's house to get heroin for Pruett. RP 100-101, 321. She went inside for a time, and then returned to Mr. Proshold in the van. RP 101, 121, 324. They drove away and Pruett started yelling out the window for help. RP 112, 325, 355. She had done this before – in fact, Mr. Proshold was aware that she had been involuntarily committed in the past, so he sought to park in a safe place then see to her. RP 40-42, 362, 382.

By the time the van arrived at Mr. Proshold's friend's house, Pruett had been seen and heard, and two men had followed the van to see to her safety. RP 137-185, 269, 327. Knowing the police were on their way, Mr. Proshold hid at first, but later came out and was arrested. RP 165, 195, 332, 334.

Pruett claimed that Mr. Proshold ripped off her clothes, choked her, refused to stop the van so she could get out, slammed her head into the dashboard, and put his hand inside her vagina to search for money.<sup>1</sup> She asserted he did all these things while still driving the van. RP 105-113, 126-127, 134, 150, 259-260, 278.

The state charged Mr. Proshold with rape 2, attempted robbery 2, assault 2 and kidnapping 1. CP 1-3. He faced a life sentence if convicted. RP 1.

The week before the case was set to go to trial, Mr. Proshold asked for a new attorney. He told the court that his attorney was "incompetent" and "derelict", explaining that he had asked his attorney to contact three witnesses and it had not been done. RP 1-2. The attorney agreed he had more work to do on the case to be ready for trial. RP 2-3. The judge asked the defense attorney if he felt he could continue to represent Mr. Proshold. Counsel responded in the affirmative. RP 7. The court continued the trial,

for other reasons. The judge told Mr. Proshold to talk with his attorney,

advised him that he could "bring that again," and said "[i]f you want to

come back, we'll chat about it again." RP 7.

At trial, the court gave the following definitions relating to the

kidnap charge:

Abduct means to restrain a person by either secreting or holding the person in a place where that person is not likely to be found or using or threatening to use deadly force

Restrain means to restrict another person's movements without consent and without legal authority in a manner that interferes substantially with that person's liberty. CP 29.

The jury acquitted Mr. Proshold of the rape and attempted robbery

charges. CP 36, 39. At sentencing for the kidnap and assault convictions,

the court signed an order which included the following preprinted on the

form:

2.5 Ability to Pay Legal Financial Obligations. The court has considered the total amount owing, the defendant's past, present, and future ability to pay financial legal obligations, including the defendant's financial resources and the likelihood that the defendant's status will change. The court finds that the defendant has the ability or likely future ability to pay the legal financial obligations imposed herein. RCW 9.94A.753. CP 45.

Mr. Proshold timely appealed. CP 56-70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Proshold denied all of her allegations. RP 335-338.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. THE TRIAL JUDGE VIOLATED MR. PROSHOLD'S SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO COUNSEL.

#### A. Standard of Review

Constitutional errors are reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Zillyette*, 178 Wn.2d 153, 161, 307 P.3d 712 (2013). A trial court's refusal to appoint new counsel is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Cross*, 156 Wn.2d 580, 607, 132 P.3d 80 (2006). A court "necessarily abuses its discretion" by violating an accused person's constitutional rights. *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d 273, 280, 217 P.3d 768 (2009).

A trial court, likewise, abuses its discretion by failing to make an adequate inquiry into the conflict between attorney and client. *United States v. Lott*, 310 F.3d 1231, 1248-1250 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir, 2002); *see also State v. Lopez*, 79 Wn. App. 755, 767, 904 P.2d 1179 (1995), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Adel*, 136 Wn.2d 629, 965 P.2d 1072 (1998). The reviewing court considers three factors: (1) the extent of the conflict between attorney and client, (2) the adequacy of the trial court's inquiry into that conflict, and (3) the timeliness of the motion for appointment of new counsel. *Id*.

B. The trial judge infringed Mr. Proshold's right to counsel by failing to inquire into the breakdown of the attorney-client relationship.

Where the relationship between lawyer and client completely collapses, a refusal to appoint new counsel violates the accused's Sixth Amendment right, even in the absence of prejudice. *Cross*, 156 Wn.2d at 607. To compel an accused to proceed "with the assistance of an attorney with whom he has become embroiled in irreconcilable conflict is to deprive him of the effective assistance of any counsel whatsoever." *United States v. Williams*, 594 F.2d 1258, 1260 (9th Cir. 1979) (quoting *Brown v. Craven*, 424 F.2d 1166 (9th Cir. 1970)).

When an accused person requests the appointment of new counsel, the trial court must inquire into the reason for the request. *Cross*, 156 Wn.2d at 607-610; *Benitez v. United States*, 521 F.3d 625, 632 (6th Cir. 2008). An adequate inquiry must include a full airing of concerns and a meaningful evaluation of the conflict by the trial court. *Cross*, 156 Wn.2d at 610.

The court "must conduct 'such necessary inquiry as might ease the defendant's dissatisfaction, distrust, and concern.' …The inquiry must also provide a 'sufficient basis for reaching an informed decision.'" *United States v. Adelzo-Gonzalez*, 268 F.3d 772 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001). Furthermore, "in most circumstances a court can only ascertain the extent of a breakdown in communication by asking specific and targeted questions." *Adelzo-Gonzalez*, 268 F.3d at 776-777. The focus should be

on the nature and extent of the conflict, not on whether counsel is minimally competent. *Adelzo-Gonzalez*, 268 F.3d at 776-777.

In this case, the trial court learned that Mr. Proshold did not want to proceed with his court-appointed lawyer. RP 1-3. Mr. Proshold called his attorney an "incompetent goob." RP 1. He told the court his attorney was "derelict in his duties," and described some of the problems. RP 1-2. He described counsel's representation as "inadequate," and specifically asked for another attorney. RP 2. When counsel assured the judge that he could still work with his client, Mr. Proshold said "I have no confidence in him left." RP 7.

The trial judge should have asked specific and targeted questions, encouraging Mr. Proshold to fully air his concerns. *Cross*, 156 Wn.2d at 610; *Adelzo-Gonzalez*, 268 F.3d at 776-779. The Sixth Amendment required the court to develop an adequate basis for a meaningful evaluation of the problem and an informed decision. *Cross*, 156 Wn.2d at 610; *Adelzo-Gonzalez*, 268 F.3d at 776-779.

Instead, the judge told Mr. Proshold he could raise the issue again, but never told him how to go about doing so. The next time Mr. Proshold was brought to court was just a few days before the start of trial. Clerk's Minutes from 11/14/13, Supp. CP. At that point he'd already waived his right to speedy trial, and allowed the case to be continued beyond his

initial speedy trial expiration date. RP 5-7. By failing to inquire when the issue was brought to the court's attention, the judge forced Mr. Proshold into a position where he had to choose between delaying the case further (by raising the issue again) or proceeding to trial with an attorney in whom he had no confidence.

The trial court's failure to conduct a meaningful inquiry into Mr. Proshold's concerns denied Mr. Proshold's Sixth Amendment right to counsel. *Cross*, 156 Wn.2d at 607. His convictions must be vacated and the case remanded for a new trial.<sup>2</sup> *Id*.

## II. MR. PROSHOLD'S KIDNAPPING CONVICTION VIOLATED HIS FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS BECAUSE THE COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS ALLOWED CONVICTION WITHOUT PROOF OF ABDUCTION.

A. Standard of Review

Constitutional questions are reviewed de novo. Zillyette, 178

Wn.2d at 161. A manifest error affecting a constitutional right may be

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  In the alternative, the case must be remanded for a hearing to explore the nature and extent of the conflict and for a new trial if the conflict was sufficient to require appointment of new counsel. *See, e.g., Lott,* 310 F.3d at 1249-1250 (failure to adequately inquire requires remand for a hearing to determine extent of the conflict).

addressed for the first time on review.<sup>3</sup> RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. Kirwin*, 165 Wn.2d 818, 823, 203 P.3d 1044 (2009).

The adequacy of jury instructions is reviewed *de novo*. *Gregoire v. City of Oak Harbor*, 170 Wn.2d 628, 635, 244 P.3d 924 (2010). Instructions must make the relevant legal standard manifestly apparent to the average juror. *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 864, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). Instructions create a manifest error affecting a constitutional right if they can be construed to relieve the state of its burden to prove every element of an offense. *State v. Stein*, 144 Wn.2d 236, 241, 27 P.3d 184 (2001).

B. The court's instructions allowed conviction without proof that Mr. Proshold abducted Pruett.

A trial court's failure to instruct the jury as to every element of the crime charged violates due process. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; *State v. Aumick*, 126 Wn.2d 422, 429, 894 P.2d 1325 (1995). The elements of first-degree kidnapping require proof that the accused person "intentionally abduct[ed] another person..." RCW 9A.40.020(1).

RCW 9A.40.010(1) defines "abduct" as follows: "Abduct' means to restrain a person by either (a) secreting or holding him or her in a place

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The court may also accept review of other issues argued for the first time on appeal, including constitutional errors that are not manifest. RAP 2.5(a); see *State v. Russell*, 171 Wn.2d 118, 122, 249 P.3d 604 (2011).

where he or she is not likely to be found, or (b) using or threatening to use deadly force." RCW 9A.40.010(1). The statutory definition unambiguously requires proof of restraint, accomplished by one of two alternative methods, (a) and (b).

In this case, the court's instruction defining "abduct" altered the punctuation and organization of the definition. CP 29. Instead of using the format and punctuation set forth in the statute, the court told jurors that "Abduct means to restrain a person by either secreting or holding the person in a place where the person is not likely to be found or using or threatening to use deadly force." CP 29.

The court's changes rendered the definition ambiguous. A reasonable juror could read the court's definition in a manner that differs significantly from the statutory definition. Specifically, a reasonable juror could read the court's ambiguous instruction and believe that

"Abduct" means (a) to restrain a person by either secreting or holding the person in a place where the person is not likely to be found, or (b) using or threatening to use deadly force.

Under this reading of the instruction, a juror could vote to convict if Mr. Proshold used (or threatened to use) deadly force against Pruett, even without proof of restraint. CP 29-30. This relieved the prosecution of its burden to prove the essential elements of kidnapping. RCW 9A.40.010(1); RCW 9A.40.020(1). The error was particularly harmful in this case, because Mr. Proshold testified that he did not restrain Pruett. RP 324-342. Some jurors might have believed his testimony that he didn't restrain her, but also believed Pruett's testimony that Mr. Proshold threatened or assaulted her. RP 105-111.

The court's instructions failed to make the relevant standard manifestly apparent to the average juror. *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 864.<sup>4</sup> This relieved the state of its burden to prove that Mr. Proshold "abducted" Pruett. His kidnapping conviction must be reversed and the charge remanded for a new trial. *Id.* 

# III. THE COURT ERRED BY ORDERING MR. PROSHOLD TO PAY ATTORNEY FEES.

A. Standard of Review.

Reviewing courts assess constitutional issues and questions of law *de novo. Zillyette*, 178 Wn.2d at 161; *State v. Jones*, 175 Wn. App. 87, 95,

303 P.3d 1084 (2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This created a manifest error affecting Mr. Proshold's right to due process: some jurors might have voted to convict based on Mr. Proshold's use or threatened use of force, even if they believed the state failed to prove actual restraint. RCW 9A.40.010(1); RCW 9A.40.020(1). Accordingly, the issue can be addressed for the first time on review. RAP 2.5(a)(3). The court should review the error even if it does not qualify under RAP 2.5(a)(3). *Russell*, 171 Wn.2d at 122. The Rules of Appellate procedure require courts to decide cases on their merits "except in compelling circumstances where justice demands..." RAP 1.2(a). A decision on the merits. RAP 1.2(a).

B. Erroneously-imposed legal financial obligations (LFOs) may be challenged for the first time on appeal.

A court's authority to impose costs derives from statute. *State v. Hathaway*, 161 Wn. App. 634, 651-653, 251 P.3d 253 (2011) *review denied*, 172 Wn.2d 1021, 268 P.3d 224 (2011).<sup>5</sup> A court exceeds its authority by ordering an offender to pay legal financial obligations (LFOs) beyond what the legislature has authorized. RCW 9.94A.760.

Illegal or erroneous sentences may be challenged for the first time on appeal. *State v. Ford*, 137 Wn.2d 427, 477-78, 973 P.2d 452 (1999) *see also, State v. Bahl*, 164 Wn.2d 739, 744, 193 P.3d 678 (2008) (erroneous condition of community custody could be challenged for the first time on appeal). The imposition of a criminal penalty may be challenged for the first time on appeal on the grounds that the sentencing court failed to comply with the authorizing statute. *State v. Moen*, 129 Wn.2d 535, 543-48, 919 P.2d 69 (1996).<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See also State v. Bunch, 168 Wn. App. 631, 279 P.3d 432 (2012); State v. Moreno, 173 Wn. App. 479, 499, 294 P.3d 812 (2013) review denied, 177 Wn.2d 1021, 304 P.3d 115 (2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See also, State v. Parker, 132 Wn.2d 182, 189, 937 P.2d 575 (1997) (explaining improperly calculated standard range is legal error subject to review); *In re Personal Restraint of Fleming*, 129 Wn.2d 529, 532, 919 P.2d 66 (1996) (explaining "sentencing error can be addressed for the first time on appeal even if the error is not jurisdictional or constitutional"); *State v. Hunter*, 102 Wn. App. 630, 9 P.3d 872 (2000) (examining for the first time on appeal the validity of drug fund contribution order); *State v. Roche*, 75 Wn. App. 500, 513, 878 P.2d 497 (1994) (holding "challenge to the offender score calculation is a sentencing error that may be raised for the first time on appeal"); *State v. Paine*, 69 Wn. App. 873, 884, 850 P.2d 1369 (1993) (collecting cases and concluding that case law has

All three divisions of the Court of Appeals have held that LFOs cannot be challenged for the first time on appeal. *State v. Duncan*, 29916-3-III, 2014 WL 1225910 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 25, 2014); *State v. Blazina*, 174 Wn. App. 906, 911, 301 P.3d 492 (2013) *review granted*, 178 Wn.2d 1010, 311 P.3d 27 (2013); *State v. Calvin*, --- Wn. App. ---, 316 P.3d 496, 507 (Wash. Ct. App. 2013), *as amended on reconsideration* (Oct. 22, 2013). But the *Duncan*, *Blazina*, and *Calvin* courts dealt only with factual challenges to LFOs. *Id.* The cases do not govern Mr. Proshold's claim that the court lacked constitutional and statutory authority.<sup>7</sup>

C. The court violated Mr. Proshold's right to counsel by ordering him to pay the cost of his court-appointed attorney without first determining that he had the present or future ability to pay.

The Sixth Amendment guarantees an accused person the right to counsel. U.S. Const. Amends. VI; XIV. A court may not impose costs in a manner that impermissibly chills an accused's exercise of the right to counsel. *Fuller v. Oregon*, 417 U.S. 40, 45, 94 S.Ct. 2116, 40 L.Ed.2d 642 (1974). Under *Fuller*, the court must assess the accused person's current or future ability to pay prior to imposing costs. *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>quot;established a common law rule that when a sentencing court acts without statutory authority in imposing a sentence, that error can be addressed for the first time on appeal").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The issue will likely be resolved when the Supreme Court issues its opinion in *Blazina*.

In Washington, the *Fuller* rule has been implemented by statute. RCW 10.01.160 limits a court's authority to order an offender to pay the costs of prosecution:

The court *shall not order* a defendant to pay costs unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them. In determining the amount and method of payment of costs, the court shall take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose.

RCW 10.01.160(3) (emphasis added).

Nonetheless, Washington cases have not required a judicial

determination of the accused's actual ability to pay before ordering

payment for the cost of court-appointed counsel. State v. Blank, 131

Wn.2d 230, 239, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997) (discussing State v. Curry, 118

Wn.2d 911, 916, 829 P.2d 166 (1992)); see also, e.g., State v. Smits, 152

Wn. App. 514, 523-524, 216 P.3d 1097 (2009); State v. Crook, 146 Wn.

App. 24, 27, 189 P.3d 811 (2008). This construction of RCW

10.01.160(3) violates the right to counsel.<sup>8</sup> *Fuller*, 417 U.S. at 45.

In *Fuller*, the U.S. Supreme Court upheld an Oregon statute that allowed for the recoupment of the cost a public defender. *Id.* The court relied heavily on the statute's provision that "a court may not order a convicted person to pay these expenses unless he 'is or will be able to pay

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