NO. 45736-9-II Cowlitz Co. Cause NO. 13-1-01004-3

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ALLEN D. PROSHOLD,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

SUSAN I. BAUR Prosecuting Attorney JAMES B. SMITH/WSBA 35537 Chief Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Office and P. O. Address: Hall of Justice 312 S. W. First Avenue Kelso, WA 98626 Telephone: 360/577-3080

I. INTRODUCTION

The appellant was charged by information with Rape in the Second Degree, Kidnapping in the First Degree, Attempted Robbery in the First Degree, and Assault in the Second Degree, all counts were alleged to be domestic violence. These charges stemmed from an incident where the appellant assaulted his girlfriend and held her against his will as he drove around Longview, Washington in his van. The appellant proceeded to jury trial on November 20, 2013, before the Honorable Judge Marilyn Haan. On November 25, 2013, the jury returned guilty verdicts as to the assault and kidnapping charges, the appellant was acquitted of the robbery and rape. The instant appeal followed.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Given the issues asserted, the relevant facts are procedural. The State agrees with the procedural facts as set forth in the appellant's brief. Where appropriate, the State cites to further facts in the record.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Did the Trial Court Violate the Appellant's Right to Counsel?
- 2. Did the Trial Court Improperly Instruct the Jury on the Definition of "Abduct"?
- 3. Did the Trial Court Err by Imposing Certain Legal Financial Obligations?

- 4. Did the Trial Court Err by Failing to Remove a Deliberating Juror or Place a Time Limit on Deliberations?
- 5. Was Trial Counsel Ineffective?

IV. SHORT ANSWERS

- 1. No.
- 2. No.
- 3. No.
- 4. No.
- 5. No.

V. ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Did Not Violate the Appellant's Right to Counsel.

The appellant argues that the trial court erred by not inquiring more fully into a potential conflict over strategy with trial counsel. However, the appellant failed to ever bring this issue back before the court, and there is no showing in the record of a total breakdown of the relationship. This Court should reject this argument.

A trial court's decision on attorney/client disagreements is reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 733, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997); State v. Cross, 156 Wn.2d 580, 607, 132 P.3d 80 (2006). A criminal defendant may not discharge appointed counsel unless the motion is timely and based upon proper grounds. In re Pers. Restraint

of Stenson, 142 Wn.2d 710, 732-34, 16 P.3d 1 (2001). However, not every dispute between an attorney and defendant is grounds for the appointment of new counsel. The details of trial strategy and tactics are entrusted to the attorney, not the defendant. State v. Piche, 71 Wn.2d 583, 590, 430 P.2d 522 (1967); Cross, 156 Wn.2d at 606. Only when the relationship between an attorney and defendant "completely collapses" does the refusal to appoint new counsel violate the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. Stenson, 142 Wn.2d at 722. However, a mere lack of accord does not amount to a complete collapse of the relationship. Cross, 156 Wn.2d at 606; citing Morris v. Slappy, 461 U.S. 1, 13-14, 103 S.Ct. 1610, 75 L.Ed.2d 610 (1983).

Here, the appellant complained about his trial counsel at a readiness hearing on October 24, 2014, stating:

Your Honor, my attorney is an incompetent goob. He's derelict in his duties. I'm looking at a life sentence. I'm going to trial next week. There are three potential witnesses I asked him to talk to and he hasn't; there's a matter I asked him to look into the first time we met and he hasn't. I asked him point-blank yesterday what he's done for my case, and his one and only answer was — was listened to some audio recordings. Inadequate representation. I would another attorney, please.

RP 1-2. The court then inquired if trial counsel was in fact ready to proceed to trial. Trial counsel replied that he was not ready for trial, as he had only recently been able to interview the victim and needed to prepare

further for trial. RP 2-4. The court inquired of trial counsel whether he would be able to prepare for trial if given more time, and whether he would be able to work with the appellant. Trial counsel indicated that he would be able to do both. RP 7. The court then granted the appellant's request for continuance, and the appellant entered a waiver of his right to a timely trial. A new trial date was set for the week of November 18th, 2014. RP 6-7.

The appellant's general complaint, that trial counsel was a "goob" and was "derelict" are the sort of ad hominem attacks on defense counsel that are all too common. Doubtlessly a great many, even a majority, of criminal defendants have described their attorneys using derogatory terms at some point during the case. This does not mean their Sixth Amendment rights have been violated however. Almost fifty years ago, the Washington Supreme Court observed:

We note, with increasing concern, that it seems to be standard procedure for the accused to quarrel with court-appointed counsel, or to develop an undertone of studied antagonism and claimed distrust, or to be reluctant to aid or cooperate in preparation of a defense. This appears to be done in order to argue on appeal that the accused was deprived of due process alleging he was represented by incompetent counsel.

<u>Piche</u>, 71 Wn.2d at 589; cited by <u>Stenson</u>, 142 Wn.2d at 734. The concerns of the <u>Piche</u> court are at least as relevant today as in 1967.

Turning to the appellant's specific complaints, it is apparent that these dealt solely with trial preparation and tactics, including whether to call certain witnesses. These are matters entrusted to the skill and discretion of the attorney. Piche, 71 Wn.2d at 590; State v. Weber, 137 Wn.App. 852, 858, 155 P.3d 947 (2007); State v. Wilson, 29 Wn.App. 895, 626 P.2d 998 (1981); State v. Thomas, 71 Wn.2d 470, 429 P.231 (1967). This is not the type of conflict that raises Sixth Amendment concerns. See Restraint of Stenson, 142 Wn.2d at 729 (disagreement of trial strategy insufficient to show conflict). Instead, this is the sort of disagreement that trial courts generally leave to the defendant and attorney to sort out. Cross, 156 Wn.2d at 610.

Indeed, the record shows that the dispute did sort itself out. The appellant proceeded to trial around four weeks later, and at no point during the trial did he raise any concerns about his attorney's preparation or performance. The trial court had specifically invited the appellant do this if there were any issues. RP 7. The record of the trial does not support the theory that there was a "complete collapse" of the attorney/client relationship, as trial counsel called a number of witnesses, including the appellant, and vigorously argued his theory of the case. RP 307-341.

Given that the appellant did not actually proceed to trial until almost a month later, the trial court's preliminary inquiry is more than

sufficient under <u>Cross</u>. Trial courts are understandably reluctant to probe too deeply into the attorney-client relationship when there is still ample opportunity for the parties to resolve a dispute themselves. This Court should find the trial court did not abuse its considerable discretion in this matter, and reject the appellant's claim.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE DEFINITION OF "ABDUCTION."

The appellant claims that the trial court erred by giving Instruction No. 22, based on WPIC 39.30. However, the appellant did not object to this instruction at trial, and is therefore barred from raising this issue on appeal. Even if this Court should consider the issue, the appellant's arguments are without merit as the trial court properly instructed the jury on the meaning of the term "abduct" under Washington law.

¹ Had the trial court denied the appellant's request for a continuance and forced the appellant to proceed to trial immediately, the appellant's claim that the inquiry should have been more searching would be persuasive. However, that is not the record before this court.

a. The Appellant Failed to Preserve for Review Any Alleged Error in the Instruction.

At trial, the appellant did not object to Instruction No. 22, the definition of "abduct" found in WPIC 39.30. RP 392. Where a party fails to object, or attempts to raise a new issue on appeal, it well established law that "an appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court." RAP 2.5(a); State v. Lyskoski, 47 Wn.2d 102, 108, 287 P.2d 114 (1955). Despite this long standing rule, the appellant argues for the first time on appeal that Instruction No. 22 was an incorrect statement of the law². Appellant's brief at 9-126.

The Washington Supreme Court reiterated in State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 217 P.3d 756 (2009), that instructional errors were not automatically manifest errors that could be raised for the first time at appeal. In O'Hara, the Supreme Court held that whether an unpreserved claim of error in instructing the jury is manifest is determined on a case-by-case basis. 167 Wn.2d at 100-02. Therefore, having failed to object at trial, the appellant must now show the alleged instructional error was "manifest" as defined by RAP 2.5(a)(3). A manifest error must have practical and identifiable consequences apparent on the record that would

² This Court has again recently confirmed the meaning of RAP 2.5(a) (3) in <u>State v. Knight</u>, 176 Wn.App. 936, 309 P.3d 776 (2013), by refusing to consider a claim that assault jury instructions were "ambiguous" for the first time on appeal.

have been reasonably obvious to the trial court. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 935, 155 P.3d 125 (2007).

Instructional errors that have been found to be manifest include: directing a verdict, shifting the burden of proof to the defendant, failure to define "beyond a reasonable doubt," failure to require jury unanimity, and omitting an element of the crime charged. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 103. Conversely, instructional errors that have not been found to be manifest include failure to instruct on lesser included offenses and failure to define individual terms. Id.; see also State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 690-691, 757 P.2d 492 (1988).

The O'Hara court noted that

[T]he examples of manifest constitutional errors in jury instructions include: directing a verdict, shifting the burden of proof to the defendant, failing to define the "beyond a reasonable doubt" standard, failing to require a unanimous verdict, and omitting an element of the crime charged. On their face, each of these instructional errors obviously affect a defendant's constitutional rights by violating an explicit constitutional provision or denying the defendant a fair trial through a complete verdict. In contrast, instructional errors not falling within the scope of RAP 2.5(a), that is—not constituting manifest constitutional error-include the failure to instruct on a lesser included offense and failure to define individual terms. In each of those instances, one can imagine justifications for defense counsel's failure to object or where the jury could still come to the correct conclusion. Looking at those prior cases, there is nothing about erroneous self-defense jury instructions, in whatever form, automatically putting them in the group of cases where we reviewed the error as compared to the group where we did not.

167 Wn.2d at 103.

Applying this rationale, the Supreme Court held that the failure to fully define the term "malice" for the purposes of self-defense was not a manifest error that could be asserted for the first time on appeal. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 107-108. The Supreme Court explicitly rejected a claim that the failure to give this instruction relieved the State of its burden to prove an element of the crime. Id.

Considering this, the appellant has failed to identify any "practical and identifiable" consequences from the giving of Instruction No. 22 that would have been so reasonably obvious to the trial court to require it to insert the punctuation desired now by the appellant. See <u>Kirkman</u>, 152 Wn.2d at 935. Quite to the contrary, the appellant's argument is wholly speculative, and presumes prejudice rather than proving it. The error, assuming any occurred, is plainly not "practical and identifiable" but is instead extremely subtle. On this record, it cannot be said that the purported error was manifest and the Court should find the appellant waived any error related to Instruction No. 22 by failing to object before the trial court.

b. Instruction No. 22 Properly Defined "Abduct" for the Jury.

The appellant argues that the trial court erred by giving the pattern definition of "abduct", WPIC 39.30, to the jury. Specifically, the appellant argues the omission of punctuation changed the meaning of the definition in a manner that allowed the jury to convict without the required proof. However, this claim lacks any basis in law or common-sense.

The statutory definition for "abduct" states:

"Abduct" means to restrain a person by either (a) secreting or holding him or her in a place where he or she is not likely to be found, or (b) using or threatening to use deadly force.

RCW 9A.40.010(1). WPIC 39.30, given by the trial court as Instruction No. 22, states:

Abduct means to restrain a person by either secreting or holding the person in a place where that person is not likely to be found or using or threatening to use deadly force.

RP 412. Thus, the only difference between the statute and the instruction is the omission of (a) and (b). This is the entirety of the appellant's claim.

The appellant argues the trial court's instruction allowed the jury to believe he could be found to have "abducted" someone if he had either:

- Restrained a person by either secreting or holding the person in a place where the person is not likely to be found;
 OR
- 2. Used or threatened to use deadly force.

Appellant's brief at 11. On its face, the appellant's interpretation is non-grammatical, and counter to a common understanding of written English. It strains credulity to think that the jury would have believed that a person "abducts" someone simply by using or threatening to use deadly force, as that would not comport with anyone's understanding of the crime of kidnapping or the term "abduct."

In fact, the definition given to the jury sets forth the identical two ways to abduct a person as RCW 9A.40.010(1). Instruction No. 22 states that "abduct" can occurred by *either* secreting or holding the person in a place where that person is not likely to be found *or* using or threatening to use deadly force. The *either/or* pairing is a correlative conjunction used to join two separate clauses in a sentence, and the common understanding of this function would be that there are two ways to abduct a person, as set forth in the statute.

Even when an appellate court reviews a preserved challenge to a jury instruction, unlike this case where the appellant failed to object at trial, the trial court is afforded great deference in the wording of its

Roberts v. Goerig, 68 Wash.2d 442, 455, 413 P.2d 626 (1966); see also O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at fn.4. Here, the appellant fails to show that Instruction No. 22, drawn verbatim from the statute, was rendered defective merely by the absence of (a) and (b). Particularly where the appellant failed to provide the trial court any opportunity to correct the purported defect, this Court should reject this claim. The trial court acted within its discretion by giving the pattern instruction.

III. The Trial Court Did Not Err by Requiring the Appellant to Pay Certain Legal Financial Obligations.

The appellant also challenges the imposition of certain financial assessment by the trial court, hereafter referred to as LFOs. However, the appellant did not object to the imposition of the LFOs at trial, and the record reflects that he did have the ability to pay. This Court should refuse to consider this issue.

As noted by the appellant, this Court has repeatedly held that a defendant's failure to object to a finding of ability to pay will result in a bar on the issue being raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); State v. Blazina, 174 Wn.App. 906, 301 P.3d 492 (2013); State v. Calvin, 316 P.3d 496 (2013); State v. Duncan, 180 Wn.App. 245, 327 P.3d 699 (2014).

As the appellant did not object to the imposition of the LFOs, this Court should decline to consider the issue.³

Additionally, there was no evidence to suggest the appellant was disabled or otherwise unemployable. Finally, there is no evidence that the State has yet attempted to enforce the trial court's LFO order and collect from the appellant. Thus, his challenge is not yet ripe and is not properly before this Court. State v. Lundy, 176 Wn.App. 96, 308 P.3d 755 (2013).

IV. The Trial Court Did Not Violate the Appellant's Right to Due Process by Failing to Remove a Deliberating Juror or Place a Time Restriction on Deliberations.

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